CRS Report for Congress

Received through the CRS Web

Across-the-Board Tax Cuts: Economic Issues

Updated September 24, 2001

Jane G. Gravelle Senior Specialist in Economic Policy Government and Finance Division

Across-the-Board Tax Cuts: Economic Issues

Summary

Across-the-board income tax cuts were an important feature of H.R. 1836, the comprehensive tax cut of 2001. Distributional issues have been central to the analysis of across-the-board tax cuts (although issues of growth and simplification are also of concern). Some plans have been described as primarily benefitting the middle class; some plans, or even the same plans, have been criticized as unduly favoring high income taxpayers.

The distributional measure used to characterize a tax cut affects how the cut is perceived. Absolute measures include tax cut per return and the distribution of the revenue cost: these measures show most tax cuts to favor high income individuals because income (and income tax liability) is concentrated in higher income classes.

A variety of relative distributional measures are used, but the measure that indicates the change in income inequality is percentage change in disposable income. Using this measure, recent proposed tax cuts have had very different effects on inequality. A 10% cut in tax rates, for example, increases income inequality, causing disposable income in the top 20% of the population to rise by around 5%, while causing disposable income in the bottom 80% to rise by less than 1%. (Note that outside of a refundable credit, however, the bottom fifth of the distribution would have a very small tax cut from any tax change because tax liability is typically zero in that income category.). A one percentage point cut in rates still increases income in higher brackets by slightly more, but has a much smaller effect on increasing income inequality. To make a tax cut neutral or decrease inequality would require (using rate cuts) a larger percentage point cut in the lower brackets. An expansion of bracket widths would have no effect on the 70% of taxpayers who fall in the lowest brackets; an increase in the standard deduction, however, would benefit these taxpayers. (These findings would be affected by the Alternative Minimum Tax (AMT) and capital gains tax rates.)

The 2001 tax cut, when permanently in place, would reduce the progressivity of the tax system and increase income inequality by this relative measures.

Tax cuts favoring higher income individuals are more likely to reduce marginal tax rates, which can have benefits for growth and efficiency. Cutting only individual tax rates can worsen distortions (such as those between corporate and non-corporate investments) or undermine desirable subsidies. There are concerns about using tax cuts for counter-cyclical purposes because of; however, tax cuts used in this fashion are most effective if they can be reflected in withholding and if they provide benefits to lower and moderate income individuals (rather than high income individuals).

Tax cuts in general do not have important implications for simplification, although they do reduce the incentive to shelter income. They can complicate the tax law by increasing the number of taxpayers subject to the AMT, however. Tax cuts could also be focused on changes that provide simplification (e.g. eliminating phase outs and raising the exemption levels of the AMT). This report will be updated to reflect legislative developments.

Contents

Brief Overview of the Current Tax Structure
Recent Proposals for Across-the-Board Tax Cuts
How to Assess Progressivity and Distribution
Alternative Proposals
Distributional Effects of Recent Tax Legislation
Efficiency, Simplicity, and Stabilization
Conclusion
List of Tables
Table 1. Tax Bracket Widths, 2000
Table 3. Distribution of Incomes and Taxes by Population Shares, 2000 4
Table 4. Alternative Measures of Distribution for a Ten Percent Across-the-Board
Table 4. Alternative Measures of Distribution for a Ten Percent Across-the-Board Rate Cut

Across-the-Board Tax Cuts: Economic Issues

Across-the-board income tax cuts were an important feature of recent tax cut proposals including the 1999 comprehensive tax bill passed by Congress but vetoed by President Clinton, and of President Bush's tax proposal. President Bush's rate cuts were passed by the House as H.R. 3 in March of 2001. These rate reductions were enacted along with a number of other provisions as part of H.R. 1836, the Economic Growth and Tax Relief Reconciliation Act of 2001 (P.L. 107-16). Tax cuts may again be considered for stimulative purposes following the terrorist attack of September 11.

Distributional issues have been most central to the analysis of across-the-board tax cuts. Some plans have been described as primarily benefitting the middle class; some plans, or even the same plans, have been criticized as unduly favoring high income taxpayers. The interaction of tax cuts with the Alternative Minimum Tax (AMT) has also been an issue of growing importance.

Despite the focus on distributional issues, there are also issues of efficiency and simplification associated with the enactment of across-the-board tax cuts. Lower tax rates have potential behavioral effects on incentives to work and save and also on currently tax favored activities. More recently, suggestions have been made that tax cuts are needed to ward off a potential recession. This report examines these economic issues, focusing primarily on distributional issues. The first section provides an overview of the tax system; the next discusses recent proposals. The third section discusses methods of evaluating alternative types of across-the-board tax cuts; the following section discusses alternative types of tax cuts in light of these distributional analyses. The final section briefly discusses issues of efficiency, simplicity, and stabilization policy.

Brief Overview of the Current Tax Structure

Before describing tax cut proposals, some highlights of the current system prior to H.R. 1836 are in order. The current individual income tax system allows personal exemptions (of \$2,800 in 2000) and a standard deduction, along with \$500 child tax credits that currently exempt the equivalent of \$25,217 from income tax for a married couple with two children. Individuals may itemize deductions for mortgage interest, most state and local taxes, charitable contributions and some other items. Only 30% of returns itemized deductions according to preliminary data for 1998. Wages and

¹ All data for 1998 cited in this paper are from Individual Income Tax Returns, Preliminary Data, 1998, Internal Revenue Service, *Statistics of Income Bulletin*, Spring, 2000.

salaries, interest, dividends, capital gains, rents and profits from businesses are taxed.

There are a variety of special tax benefits such as deductions or exemptions for individual retirement accounts and credits for child care and college tuition. An important benefit for lower income individuals is a refundable earned income tax credit (which raises the exempt level for a family of four to about \$31,000). Individuals are also subject to an alternative minimum tax (AMT). Many tax benefits are phased out as income rises.

There are separate rate schedules for singles, married couples (joint returns), heads-of-households, and married couples filing separate returns. About 44% of tax returns are joint, and about 43% are single, with most of the remainder (11%) head-of-household. (There is rarely an advantage to filing a married separate return). Standard deductions also vary: they are \$7,350 for joint returns, \$4,300 for single returns, and \$6,350 for head-of-household returns.

About a quarter of all returns had no tax liability in 1998. However, these shares varied across filing types. In 1997, the latest year that disaggregated data are available, 76% of returns had tax liability, representing 86% of joint returns, 77% of single returns and 42% of head-of-household returns. Some of the roughly 25% of returns with no tax liability would be eligible for tax cuts because their lack of tax liability is due to the earned income tax credit which is refundable and should not be taken into account for considering eligibility for rate reductions. Overall, 81% of all returns had tax liability before credits including 88% of joint returns, 79% of single returns, and 65% of head of household. The share eligible for tax cuts would fall between those numbers because some credits are not refundable (e.g. child care credit, dependent care credit).

Tax rates apply to taxable income at 15%, 28%, 31%, 36% and 39.6%. Capital gains rates are lower than ordinary rates. As shown in Table 1, tax brackets are widest for married couples and most narrow for single returns, with head of household returns falling in between.

Table 1. Tax Bracket Widths, 2000

	Joint	Single	Head-of- Household
Top of 15% Bracket	\$43,850	\$26,250	\$35,150
Top of 28% Bracket	\$105,950	\$63,500	\$90,800
Top of 31% Bracket	\$162,450	\$132,600	\$147,050
Top of 36% Bracket	\$288,350	\$288,350	\$288,350

As shown in Table 2, about 70% of taxpayers with some tax liability before credits fall into the lowest tax bracket, and about 90% fall into the 28% bracket or

lower. (About 5% ultimately had no tax liability after credits). Despite the wider brackets and larger standard deductions for joint returns, the higher incomes of married couples place them in slightly higher average brackets: about 60% fall into the 15% bracket and about 85% in the 28% bracket. Unmarried heads of household returns are most concentrated in lower brackets with 89% falling in the 15% bracket and 98% in the 28% or less bracket. The singles distribution falls in between these. Some income is taxed at capital gains rates, but in general, very few returns (about 5%) fall into the higher rate brackets of 31%, 36% or 39.6%.

Table 2. Distribution of Tax Returns By Highest Marginal Tax Rate

Top Marginal Rate	All Returns	Joint Returns	Single Returns	Head-of- Household	
15	69.2	59.2	75.1	88.6	
28	20.3	26.2	16.6	9.0	
31	2.9	3.8	2.5	0.4	
36	1.2	2.1	0.4	0.3	
39.6	0.7	1.4	0.2	0.1	
Capital Gains	4.6	6.9	3.2	1.3	

Source: Internal Revenue Service Statistics of Income, Individual Income Taxes and Shares, 1997, *SOI Bulletin*, Spring 2000.

The distribution of income and income taxes paid is, however, quite different. Returns taxed at rates no higher than 15% account for 70% of tax returns, but only 19% of tax liability, and the 90% of returns that fall in the 15% or 28% bracket account for 45% of tax liability. The 5% of returns falling into the three highest brackets account for 46% of tax liability.

This pattern of the concentration of the population in the lower brackets and the concentration of income tax liability and, to a lesser extent, income in the higher brackets is the crucial underlying reason for the distributional characteristics of alternative tax cut proposals. These patterns are also shown in Table 3. Income in the United States has become increasingly concentrated in higher income brackets, so that the top fifth of the population received 57% of the income. (Between 1977 and 1995, according to figures from the Congressional Budget Office, real income in the highest quintile increased by 27% while real income in the lowest quintile decreased by 21%.) It is the concentration of income in these higher levels that is most responsible for the concentration of taxes, although the individual income tax, and to a lesser extent, total federal taxes, are progressive. This progressivity has increased

in the lower brackets because of legislation, as well, namely the child credit enacted in 1997 and the expansion in the earned income credit in 1993.

Table 3. Distribution of Incomes and Taxes by Population Shares, 2000

Family Economic Income Quintile	Family Economic Income	Total Federal Taxes	Individual Income Tax	
Lowest	2.7	0.7	-0.6	
Second	7.2	3.9	0.5	
Third	12.6	10.2	6.9	
Fourth	21.3	19.9	16.3	
Highest	56.7	65.1	76.6	
Total	100.0	100.0	100.0	
Top 10% 40.5		48.5	61.3	
Top 5%	29.5	36.5	49.1	
Top 1%	14.8	20.1	29.5	

Source: U.S. Treasury Distributional Analysis Methodology, by Julie-Anne Cronin, U.S. Department of Treasury, OTA Paper 85, September 1999.

Note that the top of the first four quintiles corresponds to incomes of \$17,988, \$34,844, \$59,019, and \$100, 7676. The top 10% has incomes between \$140,581 and \$189,835; the top 5% income between \$189,835 and \$462,053. The income concept is an expanded one that includes accrued as well as cash income, but the share distribution is very close to the distribution for cash income. The dollar limits differ, particularly at high income levels. For the cash income measures, the top of the first four quintiles correspond to incomes of \$16,426, \$30,964, \$49,862, and \$81,967. The top 10% has incomes between \$115,239 and \$154,900; the top 5% income between \$154,900 and \$346,555. There are 115.2 million families.

Proposals that are targeted at tax cuts in the lower brackets can benefit a large number of people at a lower cost, while tax cuts that benefit the higher brackets can cost a great deal to benefit relatively few individuals. These effects are the result of the existing distribution of income and of the tax burden.

Recent Proposals for Across-the-Board Tax Cuts

Initial tax cut proposals made in the House in 1999 included a flat 10% across-the-board tax rate cut. That is, the 15% rate would be cut by 1.5 percentage points,

the 28% rate by 2.8 percentage points, and so forth. The Senate proposed a quite different form of tax reduction: a reduction of the 15% rate to 14% and an expansion (albeit small) in the 14% bracket. The Conference Committee plan ultimately decided to reduce all tax rates by one percentage point; it also agreed to increase the standard deduction and increase the width of the first rate bracket slightly. Senate Democrats offered a proposal to expand the standard deduction. The proposals also included separate marriage penalty relief provisions that provided general tax cuts for joint returns.

The general rate reductions in the House bill cost more than in the Senate bill and by the year 2009 the annual cost was estimated at that time to be twice as large as that in the Senate bill (\$112 billion versus \$47 billion) if the expansion of the 14% rate for joint returns is included and \$112 billion versus \$27 billion if the expansion of the bracket is excluded; the Senate version targeted a larger share of its benefits to married couples. Combined with all marriage penalty relief which also affects the rate structure, the House bill's provisions would have cost \$117 billion in 2009 while the Senate bill would have cost \$96 billion. Revenue estimates do not allow these distinctions for the Conference agreement which was, for procedural reasons, sunsetted, but in 2008, before the sunset, there was an estimated \$57 billion revenue loss from the percentage point rate reduction plus an increase in the 14% bracket by for non-joint returns, that appears to account for about \$13 billion of the total. Increases in the standard deduction and the size of the first bracket joint returns to make them twice the size of singles would have added a total of \$28 billion, for a total of \$85 billion.

These bills also modified the Alternative Minimum (AMT) Tax to allow the use of personal credits to offset AMT tax liability.

President Bush's tax proposal has been estimated to cost \$1.6 billion over the first ten years (from FY2002-FY2011). He proposed to replace the current structure of taxes with new rate brackets and a 10%, 15%, 25% and 33% rate structure. (Thus current 28% and 31% brackets would be combined into the 25% bracket) The child tax credit would be doubled to \$1000 and the phase-out of the credit will be increased from \$110,000 to \$200,000 for married couples and from \$75,000 to \$200,000 for single parents. The marriage penalty would be reduced by allowing a 10% deduction for the second earner (up to \$3000). In addition, the proposal (and others announced subsequently) would eliminate estate and gift taxes, and make a number of other changes in the tax structure.

The House adopted most of the provisions of the President's plan, including the rate structure, but provided an expansion of the standard deduction and first rate bracket instead of the second-earner deduction. The Senate passed a bill that would not have combined old rate bracket, with keep the original rate brackets, with rates of 10%, 15%, 25%, 28%, 33% and 36%, which roughly involved a three percentage point reduction in the higher brackets. The Senate bill also eliminated the phase out of the itemized deductions and personal exemptions (the equivalent of a percentage point reduction). The final bill (R.R. 1836) followed the rates in the Senate bill, except that the top rate was reduced to 35%'s proposal, but the rate brackets were

How to Assess Progressivity and Distribution

Reports of the distributional effects of tax cuts sometimes appear to depict the same tax change very differently. This difference in how the cut is perceived for distributional purposes arises from the choice of distributional measure. Some of the measures that have been presented include: (1) the share of taxpayers benefitted that fall below an income level; (2) the percentage reduction in taxes paid, (3) the tax cut as a percentage of income (both pre-tax and disposable), (4) the distribution of the tax cut by income class and (5) the average tax cut. The first of these measures is most likely to tend to depict a tax change as favoring lower income individuals relative to higher income ones; the second measure is next most likely, and so forth.

To illustrate this point, consider a 10% across-the-board tax cut (all positive net tax liabilities reduced by 10%). Assuming that the bottom quintile of the distribution does not have tax liability, one could describe this tax cut as one in which three quarters of the beneficiaries have income below \$50,000, which might make the cut to appear not to be particularly targeted to high income individuals. Almost any tax cut that is a general one will benefit, in numbers, those outside the high income taxpayers, because high income taxpayers are, by definition, not very numerous. But this description of the tax cut does not tell us anything about how much of a tax cut different groups receive. Table 4 illustrates how such quantitative measures of the types described above would look assuming everyone in each quintile and group has the same average income (an assumption that allows the calculation of measures in the lower brackets where some individuals have negative tax liability because of the earned income tax credit). (Note, however, that this table does not account for a number of other features of the tax law, as discussed in the following section.)

Based on percentage changes reported in the second column, the tax cut as a percentage of income tax liabilities, the tax cut may appear to be fairly equal across the income classes (except for the lowest group). But that measure does not really tell us very much about distribution, because people in the lower income categories may have extremely small tax liabilities and a tiny change in tax could result in a very big percentage. Even expanding the measure to a percentage reduction in all taxes shows that a proportional cut in income taxes reduces total taxes proportionally more for high income individuals. Moreover, even in this case, measuring the percentage reduction in tax liability has not shown us anything about the effect on income equality; it merely shows us that individual income taxes are more progressive than total taxes.

Table 4. Alternative Measures of Distribution for a Ten Percent Across-the-Board Rate Cut

Family Income Quintile	% Change Income Tax Liability	% Change Total Tax Liability	% Change Pre-Tax Income	% Change After- Tax Income	Share of Tax Cut (%)	Tax Cut Per Return (\$)
Lowest	0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0
Second	-10	-0.7	0.1	0.1	0.6	21
Third	-10	-3.1	0.6	0.7	7.0	259
Fourth	-10	-3.7	0.8	1.0	16.3	607
Highest	-10	-5.1	1.4	1.9	76.4	2,841
Total	-10	-4.4	1.0	1.3	100.0	738
Top 10%	-10	-5.5	1.5	2.1	61.4	4,562
Top 5%	-10	-5.8	1.7	2.4	49.0	7,223
Top 1%	-10	-6.2	2.0	3.0	29.5	20,991

Source: Calculated based on data from U.S. Treasury Distributional Analysis Methodology, by Julie-Anne Cronin, U.S. Department of Treasury, OTA Paper 85, September 1999. The term "Total Tax Liability" refers to all federal taxes plus state and local income taxes.

In discussing these measures that do relate to effects on income inequality, it first is important to distinguish between absolute measures and relative measures. For example, average tax reductions per unit provide information on the absolute size of a tax benefit across the income classes, which is a straightforward measure, and is shown in the last column of Table 4. In this example, the second quintile has a tax cut of \$23 per person and the highest quintile a cut of \$2,841.

Another way of examining this same effect is to compare the distribution of the tax benefit with the distribution of the population, in the next to last column of Table 4. If each proportion of the population is getting the same share of the benefit, then the benefits are equal. But the 10% tax cut distributes benefits proportionally to higher income individuals, indicating that incomes are becoming more unequal on an absolute basis. Both of these measures can inform us about how a tax cut is changing income without being misleading, although it is important to remember that existing income and tax payments are more concentrated among high income individuals. Thus there is a tendency for absolute measures to show most across-the-board tax cuts as favoring higher income individuals – because these individuals have a large proportion of the income and pay an even larger fraction of the income tax. Moreover, unless a tax provision is refundable, it will have little benefit for the bottom fifth of the population.

A different type of measure is a relative one that tries to examine how the tax benefit is changing the overall relative distribution of income in the country -- that is, is it making income shares more equal or less equal? In this case, a tax change that does not alter distribution provides tax benefits to different income classes in proportion to some measure of income. (Higher income individuals would still receive high absolute tax cuts but not higher tax cuts as a percentage of income.) In general, the best method for measuring this type of effect on inequality is to examine the percentage change in disposable (after-tax) income. If the percentage change is equal, then the tax change is not making incomes shares more equal or less equal. If the percentages are higher among higher income individuals the change is making incomes shares less equal. Clearly, the across-the-board proportional tax cut is increasing inequality measured by the relative concept: incomes in the lower brackets are increased by considerably less than 1%, while incomes in the higher brackets are increased by 2% or more.

Alternative Proposals

There are many types of across-the board tax cuts. In addition to the proportional rate cut discussed previously, possible tax cuts include equal percentage point reductions in all brackets, larger percentage point reductions in the lower brackets, increases in standard deductions and the width of brackets, increases in credits, and making existing credits refundable or introducing new refundable credits.

Tables 5 and 6 use two measures: absolute change in tax liability and relative change in disposable income, to illustrate the consequences of alternative tax proposals on an illustrative family (married couple with two children). Illustrations are shown for incomes at approximately the 25th, 50th, 75th, 90th, 95th and 99th percentile. Four proposals that are estimated to involve roughly the same magnitude of cost are considered: a 10% cut in rates, a 2.15 percentage point reduction in all rates, a 3.8 percentage point reduction in the lowest (15%) bracket, and an expansion of the 15% bracket through 93% of the existing 28% bracket. Each type of proposal has been considered recently in tax legislation (although the magnitudes were different). The House-passed version of the 1999 tax cut bill contained a 10% cut in rates; the Senate Finance Committee version contained a one percentage point cut in the bottom rate; an amendment on the Senate floor extended the lowest rate bracket, and the final version included a one percentage point reduction in all rates. (Note that the distributional effects of the overall bills, which contained many other provisions, including some broad changes for joint returns, cannot be inferred by comparing the single provisions.)

Table 5 shows the dollar tax cut for each type of proposal. In the very highest percentile, the largest tax cut comes from the 10% across the board tax cut. This result is not surprising, since a 10% tax cut would cut the top rate by 3.96 percentage points, the next lower by 3.6 percentage points, and so forth. The tax cut most favorable to lower income and moderate income individuals (all the way through the 75th percentile) is cutting the bottom bracket rate. An equal percentage point cut in rates falls in between these two. The extension of the 15% bracket provides no benefit for more than half of taxpayers, because most of them do not fall in the 28

percent bracket, but it is most beneficial for high income individuals except the very wealthy.

Table 5. Effects of Alternative Tax Cuts on Tax Liability, 2000, Joint Returns, Two Children

Percentile of Income Distribution	10% Cut in Rates (\$)	2.15 Percentage Point Cut in Rates (\$)	3.8 Percentage Point Cut in 15% Rate (\$)	Extend 15% Bracket Through 93% of 28% Bracket (\$)	
25 th	127	182	268	0	
50 th	429	855	1,512	0	
75 th	821	1,309	1,667	761	
90 th	1,981	2,018	1,667	6,144	
95 th	3,693	2,321	1,667	8,663	
99 th	13,788	8,969	1,667	8,663	

Source: CRS calculations, assumes itemized deductions equal to 18.8% of income, all income is ordinary income. Does not incorporate the Alternative Minimum Tax. The percentiles correspond to adjusted gross incomes of \$27,000, \$49,000, \$75,000, \$126,000, \$180,000 and \$500,000, based on Treasury data.

Table 6 provides a measure of relative equality by examining the percentage change in disposable income. The 10% cut in rates clearly redistributes after tax income to favor high income individuals. The equal percentage point tax cut also redistributes income to favor higher income individuals, although not to the degree of the 10% tax cut. Extending the 15% bracket also tends to make incomes more equal except at extremely high incomes. Only the 3.8 percentage point cut in the lowest rate tends to favor middle and lower income individuals. Note that no change (short of increasing a refundable credit) could have a larger effect on the half-median (25th percentile taxpayer) because their tax liability is eliminated by the rate cut (because of the \$1000 in child credits).

Table 6. Percentage Change in After Tax Income, Alternative Tax Proposals, 2000, Joint Returns, Two Children

Percentile of Income Distribution	10% Cut in Rates	2.15 Percentage Point Cut in Rates	3.8 Percentage Point Cut in 15% Rate	Extend 15% Bracket Through 93% of 28% Bracket	
25 th	0.5	0.8	1.1	0.0	
50 th	1.1	1.4	2.5	0.0	
75 th	1.4	1.6	2.6	1.3	
90 th	2.2	1.8	1.5	6.8	
95 th	3.1	2.0	1.1	7.3	
99 th	4.5	3.0	0.4	2.9	

Source: CRS calculations, assumes itemized deductions equal to 18.8% of income, all income is ordinary income. Does not incorporate the Alternative Minimum Tax. The percentiles correspond to adjusted gross incomes of \$27,000, \$49,000, \$75,000, \$126,000, \$180,000 and \$500,000, based on Treasury data cited earlier. Data on taxes other than income taxes are also taken from Treasury estimates cited earlier.

What sort of income tax cut would be required to be neutral with respect to the distribution of disposable income? Increases in the standard deduction coupled with an equal percentage increase in rates would probably be most likely to accomplish this effect although individuals that are excluded from the tax would require an increase in a refundable credit (such as the earned income tax credit). Rate cuts that reduce lower bracket rates by larger percentage points that higher bracket rates would also tend to be more neutral across the income classes.

It can also be difficult to evaluate a tax cut that simultaneously changes rates and brackets and does not change them in a proportional way. For example, the proposal of President Bush would substitute a rates of 10, 15, 25 and 33 for the existing brackets of 15, 28, 31, 36 and 39.6. However, the 10% bracket (cutting the 15% bracket by a third, or five percentage points) would apply to only the first \$12,000 (about a fourth) of the existing 15% bracket; remaining income in that bracket would receive no tax cut. The 25% rate would cut the existing 28% rate by 3 percentage points, but the existing 31% rate by 6 percentage points. The 33% rate would cut the 36% bracket by 3% and the 39.6% bracket by 6.6%. Based on the incomes reflected in the table above, the tax cuts arising from the rate changes would be (beginning with the lowest percentile), \$268, \$600, \$776, \$2,017, \$4,972, and \$14,207. The percentage increases in after-tax income would be 1.1, 1.5, 1.3, 2.2, 4.2 and 4.7%. Basically, the percentage increase at the bottom is smaller because only part of income is taxed and there is a limit to tax liability. The percentage change in after tax income would rise (to around 2% as the new \$12,000 bracket is exhausted

at around \$30,000 of income,) then fall again to a bottom of 1.1% for those currently at the top of the existing 15 % bracket at around \$69,000, then rise again, reaching a peak at the top of the 31% rate bracket at around \$200,000 and then falling again and then rising. (Note that this analysis also does not include other features of the Bush proposal.)

The illustrations provided in this section are designed to illustrate the general nature of the distributional effects of various types of tax cuts. These examples are simplified because they do not account for a number of other features. Three of the most important ones are capital gains, the AMT, and the child care credit.

For high income people, a significant fraction of income is received in capital gains, which are taxed at lower rates. If capital gains tax rates are cut along with the rest of the tax rate structure, dollar reductions will be nevertheless be smaller at higher income levels than presented in Table 5; they will be even smaller if capital gains tax rates are not cut. In Table 6 the percentage changes will be smaller at higher income levels. Omitting this effect does not alter the overall conclusions derived from Table 5 regarding inequality, but it does change the magnitudes.

Only a small portion of the population overall pays the minimum tax, although rates are higher in high income classes. However, the coverage of the tax was projected to be rising due to the expiring of provisions allowing personal credits to offset the AMT and the continual erosion of the AMT exemption. Currently, 1.3% of taxpayers are projected to fall under the AMT in 2000, although over 15% of taxpayers in the \$100,000 to \$200,000 income class are AMT taxpayers. These shares will increase substantially, to an overall share of 15.7% and as much as 64% in some high income brackets.² (H.R. 1836, however, made the credit offset against the AMT permanent for the child credit). Thus the distributional consequences of any tax cut will depend on whether and how much these rates are cut (or exemptions changed). If AMT rules are not revised, tax cuts for higher income individuals or individuals with certain types of characteristics (families with many children) will be smaller than indicated in the tables.

The final provision is the dependent care credit. This credit increases the exempt level for families who use it and means tax reductions are less likely to benefit lower income individuals. For example, the tax burdens of the 25th percentile taxpayer could be easily eliminated through this provision, which is particularly important for married working couples and heads-of-households. In the latter case, there are many tax returns concentrated at these lower income levels.

² Robert Rebelein and Jerry Tempalski. *Who Pays the Individual AMT?* U.S. Department of Treasury, Office of Tax Analysis, OTA Paper 87, June 2000.

Distributional Effects of Recent Tax Legislation

This analysis compares the distributional effects of the various versions of the tax cut proposal, using estimates made by a private group, Citizens for Tax Justice.³ This organization is the only one that has provided consistent estimates or provided the underlying information necessary to calculate the tax as a percentage of income, a relative distribution measure, and that also includes the impact of repealing the estate tax – an important element of the proposals.

The two basic types of distributional measures discussed above are shown, one absolute and the other relative. The absolute measure is the same one discussed above, and indicates that most of the tax cut is received by the highest income classes, and that benefits in the President's proposal and the House proposal are more concentrated in the higher classes than is the Senate proposal, while the conference proposal falls in between. This effect occurs primarily because of differences in the rate cuts, which are largest at higher income levels in the President's proposal and the House bills and smallest in the Senate proposal.

The tax cut as a percentage of income provides information about the effect on progressivity and is similar to the measure discussed above, tax cuts as a percentage of disposable income. Using taxes as a percentage of pre-tax income reduces the percentage change at higher income levels and makes the reduction in progressivity slightly less, it nevertheless provides a reasonable depiction of the distributional effects. However, it is also not clear if the income measure is as comprehensive as that in the Treasury study.

While the tax cut is relatively even handed in the middle income classes, the very highest income individuals would receive much larger tax cuts relative to income. This effect is in part due to the estate and gift tax repeal; about half of the tax cut for the top 1% comes from the estate tax repeal. Without that tax cut, the change in taxes as a percent of income would be 2.79% for the President's and House plan, 1.79% for the Senate plan, and 2.57% for the conference plans. All four measures, therefore, in general increase differentials in after-tax income. The average tax cut as a percent of income (shown in the totals row for the last four columns) indicates that, in the long run, the conference plan is the largest, with an average cut of 2.43% of pre-tax income.

Note also that, while the tax cuts at the top arise mostly from rate cuts, or reductions in estate taxes, which benefit all taxpayers in those groups, most of the middle class tax cut is directed towards particular groups: families with children and married couples. Citizens for Tax Justice finds, for example, that in the President's plan, the average tax cut is \$500, but the average tax cut for families with children is \$1,114, the average tax cut for single parents is \$326, and the average tax cut for singles is \$283. Some of these differences reflect differences in average incomes; however, the vast majority of single individuals with no children will receive no more

³ The material in this section is largely taken from CRS Report RL30973, *Tax Cuts: A Side-by-Side Comparison of the President's Proposal, and the House, Senate, and Committee Conference Committee Bills.*

than \$300 (the new 10% rate bracket), because there is no tax reduction in the 15% rate bracket, and singles do not receive benefits focused on children or joint returns.

Table 7. Distributional Effects of the President's Tax Plan, the House Proposals (H.R. 3, H.R. 6, & H.R. 8), the Senate Proposal and the Conference Proposal at 2001 Income Levels

	Share of Cut				Percent of Income			
Income Class	Presi- dent's Pro- posal	House Pro- posal*	Senate Pro- posal	Conference ence Proposal	President's Proposal	House Pro- posal*	Senate Pro- posal	Conference Proposal
Lowest 20%	0.8%	0.8%	1.0%	0.9%	0.51%	0.55%	0.70%	0.71%
Second 20%	3.5	4.0	5.7	5.3	1.03	1.18	1.77	1.82
Third 20%	8.4	9.1	8.9	8.5	1.48	1.60	1.63	1.74
Fourth 20%	15.7	15.3	14.7	14.5	1.69	1.64	1.65	1.82
Next 15%	18.9	19.0	24.8	23.7	1.56	1.58	2.14	2.29
Next 4%	7.8	6.7	9.8	9.5	1.12	0.96	1.48	1.59
Top 1%	45.0	45.0	35.0	37.6	4.88	4.87	3.97	4.76
Total	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	2.08	2.08	2.17	2.43

Source: Citizens for Tax Justice and CRS calculations based on their data.

The Joint Tax Committee has provided distributional numbers for the conference report as well, but their analysis goes only to 2006 when provisions are not fully phased in and does not include all of the tax provisions, most notably the estate and gift tax reduction. Their analysis also uses different income tax classes. Their analysis permits the calculation of taxes as a percent of income after federal taxes. Their results are, however, consistent with the general findings in Table 7: the highest income class (\$200,000 and more) has a tax cut equal to 1.7% of income and 2.4% of income net of federal tax; the middle class has a roughly proportional increase and the lower income classes have smaller increases. Overall, they are distributing a tax cut equal to 1.7% of income. The average of 2.43% in the above table would fall to

^{*} Reflects H.R. 3 (rate cuts), H.R. 6 (marriage penalty and child credit) and H.R. 8 (estate and gift tax), but not H.R.10 (IRAs and pensions). H.R. 10 would make the size of cuts slightly larger, but would probably not affect the distribution very much.

⁴ Joint Committee on Taxation. Distributional Effects of the Conference Agreement for H.R. 1836. JCX 52-01, May 26, 2001.

about 2% with the elimination of the estate and gift tax, and the remainder of the difference reflects in part the incomplete phase in.

Efficiency, Simplicity, and Stabilization

The central issue in across-the-board tax cuts discussed in this paper is the distributional effect, which finds that certain types of across-the-board tax cuts are more likely to redistribute income in certain directions. The recent tax revisions tend to be relatively even across much of the middle class, but do favor higher income individuals.

While these distributional effects may concern some, economic theory also suggests that tax cuts that tend to favor higher income individuals are more likely to achieve efficiency gains (reduce distortions in behavior the most) and behavioral responses (increases in savings and work effort). These tax cuts favoring higher income individuals have larger reductions in marginal as compared to average rates than do cuts favoring lower income individuals. The marginal tax rate governs the substitution effect, where lower tax rates are expected to increase labor supply and savings; the average tax rate governs the income effect, where lower tax rates tend to decrease labor supply and savings. Thus, as is frequently the case, distributional and efficiency objectives may conflict. Those tax cuts that most favor lower income individuals, such as reducing the lower bracket rate or increasing the standard deduction, tend to have smaller effects, per dollar of revenue loss, on the marginal tax rate, where cuts might increase savings and labor supply.

Despite concerns about behavioral responses, most evidence suggests that labor supply and savings are unlikely to be very responsive to tax cuts. There is some evidence that married women's labor supplies are responsive to tax cuts and some theoretical reasons to believe that a shift to a consumption tax could increase savings, but there are also a number of controversies surrounding these issues.⁵

Reductions in marginal tax rates would also have effects on the composition of investment or consumption, some of which may be desirable and some of which may not. For example, present law favors owner-occupied housing as both a consumption and investment good and lower tax rates would reduce that distortion. Present law also favors certain forms of passive investment (e.g. pensions and IRAs) relative to investments not targeted for retirement living, and a reduction in tax rates would reduce that distortion. However, lower individual tax rates would magnify the favorable treatment of unincorporated businesses relative to corporate investments. Tax favoritism can also produce allocations that may improve on the market

⁵ For a brief survey of the literature, see James P. Zeliak, "Labor Supply and Taxes," and Douglas Bernheim and John Karl Scholz, "Savings and Taxes" in the *Encyclopedia of Taxation and Tax Policy*, ed. Joseph J. Cordes, Robert D. Ebel and Jane G. Gravelle, Washington, D.C., The Urban Institute, 1999. See also Eric Engen, Jane Gravelle, and Kent Smetters, "Dynamic Tax Models: Why They Do the Things They Do?" *National Tax Journal*, vol. 50, September 1997, pp. 657-682.

allocation (such as charitable contributions) and these beneficial re-allocations would be reduced.

Simplicity issues do not always involve a tradeoff. On simplicity grounds, across-the-board rate cuts, which do not add complication, are preferable to many targeted tax provisions that increase tax complexity. There are also a variety of tax cuts that favor either lower or higher income individuals that could simplify the tax law. For example, an increase in the standard deduction would direct benefits toward lower and moderate income individuals, and would also simplify the tax law by increasing the number of individuals who choose not to itemize deductions. For higher income individuals, there are a number of provisions in the tax law that are phased out and that complicate the tax law. The tax law would be simplified if tax cuts to higher income individuals were provided by eliminating these phase-outs. Similarly, allowing personal credits to be used against the AMT and increasing AMT exemption levels would favor higher income individuals but would simplify the tax law.

Much of the revenue cost of H.R. 1836 arises from rate reductions. It also eliminates two important phaseouts (itemized deductions and personal exemptions) and allows the child credit to be offset against the AMT. However, the bill also adds a number of complicating provisions or expands some existing tax benefits.

Recently, supporters of tax cuts have argued that cuts are needed in order to stimulate the economy. This interest has increased, following the terrorist attack of September 11 and the increasing concerns about the economy. A number of reservations had already been raised by economists about the use of tax cuts for economic stimulus: the uncertainty of a pending recession, the potential limited effects of fiscal stimulus in an open economy with flexible exchange rates, the potential superiority of monetary policy where the decision-making apparatus is more flexible, and the possible conflict of short run stabilization objectives with long run growth objectives.⁶

However, if tax cuts are to be used for this purpose, tax changes which can be reflected in withholding tables (such as rate cuts and changes in standard deductions and personal exemptions) would be more effective, as would reductions in taxes by individuals who are more likely to spend the tax cut. (Most of the tax cut in H.R. 1836 is phased in and does not have an immediate effect on disposable incomes). In this way, the distributional effects of tax cuts and their stimulative effects are interrelated. Both economic theory and evidence suggest that tax cuts for higher income individuals have a smaller stimulative effects that tax cuts for lower income individuals. Indeed, some have suggested that tax credits against payroll taxes, which are more concentrated among lower and moderate income individuals, be considered. Capital gains tax cuts, which had been discussed, are very concentrated among higher income individuals and would be unlikely to provide economic stimulus.

⁶ See CRS Report RL30839, by Marc Labonte and Gail Makinen, *Income Tax Cuts, the Business Cycle, and Economic Growth: A Macroeconomic Analysis*, for a discussion these business cycle issues.

Conclusion

This analysis has indicated that different types of across the board tax cuts can have substantially different effects on the distribution of income. Tax proposals that cut rates proportionally tend to redistribute income towards higher income individuals whether one is considering absolute or relative measures. Tax proposals that cut rates by equal percentage points, also redistribute income towards higher income individuals, but by a lesser degree. Proposals that favor lower income individuals include increases in the standard deduction, increases in credits and especially in refundable credits, and cuts in the lower bracket rates. Proposals that expand the rate bracket width provide no benefits to lower and moderate income individuals.

Tax proposals that favor higher income individuals may involve more efficiency and larger behavioral responses, but most evidence suggests these responses are not very large. Across the broad tax cuts do not tend to complicate the tax law, but tax cuts for high income individuals could be used to simplify the tax if they were directed at phase-outs and the AMT rather than rate cuts in higher brackets. Tax cuts may be used for counter-cyclical purposes, but there are a variety of reservations about such uses.